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PREFACE


Phillip Bennett graduated as a lieutenant into the newly created Australian Regular Army (ARA) in December 1948. His military career took him to Japan, Korea, New Guinea, England, the Mediterranean, and South Vietnam as he rose through the ranks before becoming Chief of the Defence Force during the years 1984–87.


There was nothing inevitable about his rise to the top. He graduated from the Royal Military College, Duntroon, in the middle of his class and the drowning of three soldiers under his command in a training accident in Victoria in 1960 could have brought his career to an ignominious end. An Army inquiry and a Coroner’s inquest cleared him of culpability and his superiors shielded him from political pressures to sack him.


Fate played a role when his battalion and its supporting artillery bore the brunt of the Battle of Coral in 1968, part of the biggest and most prolonged Australian operation of the war in South Vietnam, and put him among a small group of contenders for the most senior ranks of the Army. He was promoted through a sequence of training, staff and command appointments which saw him reach the top in seemingly effortless fashion, although, even here, luck was on his side.


After Vietnam there were no more battles. The Cold War balance of terror and the growing resilience of countries in the region granted Australia decades of peace. After the Whitlam Labor government came to power in December 1972, Australia abandoned ‘forward defence’ and withdrew most of its forces from South-East Asia. Consequently, the 1970s and 1980s became a period of introspection, rejuvenation and reorientation for Australian defence policy and its military forces.


No individual can claim to be the sole architect or builder of the defence forces existing at any point in history. Except in wartime, they evolve over long periods of time under the stewardship of a rotating band of senior commanders and staff officers. The broad policy, structure, and budget are determined by the government. The Secretary of the Department of Defence and his staff play a critical role in advising the government on many defence matters and share responsibility with the military in some areas. Disentangling the contribution and significance of any individual is difficult, although some can claim to have made a greater impact than others.


Phillip Bennett was not one of the architects, but he was one of the most energetic builders of the Australian Defence Force we know today. He played a supporting role in establishing the Australian Defence Force Academy (ADFA); he established the Headquarters of the Australian Defence Force (HQ ADF) to exercise command over the operations of the Navy, Army and Air Force; he created the first standing joint operational commands (Maritime, Land and Air); and won agreement to transfer battlefield helicopters from the Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF) to the Army.


Bennett tried to rebalance the relationship between military and civilian sides of the Department of Defence and, although he was largely rebuffed, he set a course that his successors followed. He straddled Paul Dibb’s review of Australia’s defence capabilities and the subsequent Defence White Paper, Defence of Australia 1987, and forged ahead with military strategic concepts to unite Navy, Army and Air Force contributions and responses to the Dibb Review and the White Paper.


Bennett’s story as a senior officer is not one of great battles and heroic exploits, but rather a story of the contest for ‘policy dominance’ between the civil servants and the military leadership and illustrates what was involved in forging the foundations of the Australian Defence Force we have today. He was also a marker of changing times as the first post-Second World War officer and the last Korean War veteran to reach the most senior ranks and the last Chief of the General Staff to be knighted. He was the last knight to command the Australian Defence Force.


Phillip Bennett retired at the age of fifty-eight and, five months later, accepted the post of Governor of Tasmania where he presided over a minor constitutional crisis in the aftermath of the 1989 elections that saw the Greens burst onto the political stage. He went on to serve the people of Tasmania for eight years and three governments, Liberal and Labor. Although the governorship was a postscript to his military career, the political crisis he weathered makes this period worth covering in more detail than would normally be warranted.


Following his term as governor, Bennett returned to Canberra and was invited to become the inaugural Chairman of the Australian War Memorial Anzac Foundation, serving in that post for eight years. From the time of his appointment as Governor, he took time out for his long-suppressed passions for golf and model trains and, after retiring from the Foundation, finally found time to become an active member of Legacy.


In 1955, Bennett married Margaret Heywood and she actively supported him as wife, mother of their three children, and effervescent hostess through the thirty homes they occupied during her husband’s military career. At the time the Bennetts were married it was unusual for wives to work and it was particularly difficult for itinerant servicemen’s wives to find employment. Consequently, the Army was effectively granted two for the price of one. The wives kept the home front going and fostered the wives’ clubs that provided recreational outlets and assistance to service families in need, including comforting the families of casualties when units were absent on exercises or operations.


As a senior officer’s wife, Margaret also hosted social activities that were an essential ingredient in fostering unit cohesion, community relations, and in welcoming visiting dignitaries. Such activities complemented her husband’s career and were ideal preparation for their eight years in Tasmania.


Phillip Bennett’s story is characterised by dedication, tragedy, luck, and great achievement. His career spanned the evolution of the post-Second World War Army and the bureaucratic tensions that followed the demise of the separate departments of Navy, Army and Air Force, the centralisation of defence policymaking within the Department of Defence, and the formation of the Australian Defence Force.
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CHAPTER 1


THE MAKING OF A LEADER


Family and Schooling


Phillip Harvey Bennett was born at Mt Lawley, Perth, Western Australia, on 27 December 1928, a fourth-generation Australian and the eldest of three children born to Cyril Arthur and Sheila Lillian Bennett (nee Harvey). His great-grandfather, a Methodist minister, migrated from St Ives in Cornwall to the goldfields of Bendigo in 1857 and was known as ‘Fighting Tom’ because of the occasionally obstreperous sinners to whom he ministered in his rough and ready parish.


Tom married Elizabeth Williams from St Just in Cornwall on 1 July 1860 and their first child, Samuel, was born in 1861 at Campbell’s Creek in Victoria. A daughter, Elizabeth, was born at Ranter’s Gully, Campbell’s Creek, and a second son, Phillip, was born on 28 October 1867 at Tarrangower, Victoria.


In around 1890, Phillip married Lucy Hancock, born in Bendigo, whose parents had later moved to Devonport in Tasmania. Lucy’s father was the senior engineer and mine manager of the Zeehan mine located in the tiny town of Zeehan on the west coast of Tasmania and to which he duly commuted on horseback from Devonport. Lucy had ten children, including Cyril Arthur, who was born on 23 September 1895 after the family had moved to Fremantle in Western Australia.


Cyril attended Fremantle Boys’ School and was reportedly good at mathematics and possessed exemplary handwriting. Having left school, Cyril worked as a grocer and clerk in the largest grocery store in Fremantle, part-owned by his father, and known as Bennett and Burnside. In 1914, at the age of nineteen, Cyril enlisted as a private soldier in the Australian Imperial Force (AIF) and was one of the original ANZACs serving on Gallipoli and Lemnos with the 2nd Australian Stationary Hospital (ASH) and thereafter in the Middle East with the 2nd Light Horse Field Ambulance, finishing the war as a staff sergeant.1 His older brother, Roy, also served on Gallipoli, but died of wounds on Lemnos on 11 September 1915.2


After the war Cyril returned to work as a clerk at Bennett and Burnside’s grocery store before securing a position in Melbourne as a salesman. In Melbourne he met and married Sheila Harvey from Launceston, Tasmania, and they returned to Western Australia in 1925. Cyril then worked in various temporary jobs until he was engaged as a steward and then chief steward on the coastal traders of the State Steamship Line. He was a keen fisherman and would often bring home fresh albacore and sea snapper he had caught during his voyages.


Sheila had been forced to leave school at the age of twelve and deeply regretted not being able to continue her education. She was determined that her children stay at school and do well. She instilled a strong sense of responsibility and duty but, according to Phillip’s sister, Susan, her high expectations seemed to engender a family trait of shyness and a great reluctance among the children to push themselves forward.3


[image: image]


Staff Cadet Phillip Bennett with brother Peter, father Cyril, and mother Sheila – Perth, 1946 (Bennett Papers)


Salaries plummetted during the Great Depression, but Phillip’s father managed to secure continual employment and, although the family budget was tight, Sheila ensured that Phillip and his younger brother Peter’s schooling was not interrupted. While the family rented a house in Palmyra, Phillip attended a convent kindergarten and, when they moved to Quarry Street near the Fremantle


Artillery Barracks, he moved to the Richmond State Primary School, attending from 1934 until 1940. He was given tuppence for the daily tram fare, but soon chose to run to school to save money.


Richmond Primary was close to the home of his paternal grandmother in Alexandra Road, East Fremantle, so he went there every day for lunch. On one occasion he made the mistake of saying he liked steak and kidney pie, so the maid, thinking she was doing him a favour, kept serving him pie until he was heartily sick of it.


In 1941, Phillip moved to Fremantle Boys’ High School which was within walking distance of home, and found a mentor in one of the school’s teachers, Jerry Dolan.4 Dolan encouraged him to excel in his Intermediate examinations in the maximum ten subjects. There was no organised sport at school so he played soccer with a Cottesloe club ‘enjoying it immensely’, riding his bicycle to matches throughout the metropolitan area from East Perth to Beaconsfield.


Strange as it might seem, soccer, rather than rugby, and Australian Rules were the two main codes of football played in Western Australia, and Phillip’s father had played soccer in his youth. Phillip’s enthusiasm for the game was heightened when his mother bought him a pair of ‘super boots’ which became the envy of his team mates. At the same time, from age eleven to sixteen, he was an active scout, qualifying as a King’s Scout and becoming the Assistant Scout Master of 102 Troop, Melville, in his last two years.


Soon after Japan entered the war in December 1941, Fremantle was blacked out and other air raid precautions were introduced, including the removal of plate glass windows, the boarding-up of shopfronts, and the digging of hundreds of slit trenches as air raid shelters. The harbour became congested, evacuation plans were promulgated, the Home Defence Corps was expanded and over 300 warships visited. United States (US) anti-aircraft and coastal defence artillery units arrived and a submarine base was established at Garden Island.


In mid-1942, the entire port of Fremantle area was evacuated and the Bennett family moved in with Phillip’s paternal grandmother.5 Six months later his mother rented and then purchased a house on a one-acre block opposite his grandmother’s home.6


In the Intermediate examinations at the end of 1943, Phillip was runner-up dux at Fremantle Boys’ High School and gained competitive entry to Perth Modern School (PMS), the only government-funded school in Perth where students could qualify for university entrance. His results had not qualified him to enter PMS directly from primary school, but positions were offered to those who did well in the Intermediate examinations. Bob Hawke and Rolf Harris were a year behind him, although he barely knew them at the time. Phillip would later command the Australian Defence Force when Hawke was Prime Minister.


Phillip was a student at PMS from 1944 to 1946.7 He enrolled in English, French, German, History, Mathematics A and B, Physics, Woodwork, and Music and his tertiary ambition was recorded as teaching. His first report, in April 1944, indicated that he was ‘earnest and has made a sound start except in languages’. Successive reports were consistent with his August 1945 report which urged him to ‘make a sustained effort on his borderline subjects if he is to gain Leaving Entrance’ which he eventually did, having dropped Physics and Woodwork.8


Bennett joined the School Cadet Corps, completed a Senior Under Officer course, and became a platoon sergeant. He was a very good shot and was selected as a member of the school rifle team. His skill was partly a result of the fact that one of his early secondary school friends was the son of a farmer and member of the Volunteer Defence Corps who had a .303 Lee Enfield rifle, an Owen sub-machine-gun and plenty of ammunition. The boys were permitted to use the rifle for kangaroo shooting, often venturing out at night, which markedly improved their shooting skills.


In July 1940, Phillip’s father had re-enlisted in the Army with the rank of lieutenant before being promoted to captain in May 1941. He served as a quartermaster with medical units first in Western Australia and, after enlisting in the Second Australian Imperial Force (2nd AIF) in September 1942, in New South Wales. Apart from brief periods of leave, he was absent from home until July 1946, having volunteered to stay on for the demobilisation period.


In his father’s absence, Phillip, as the eldest son, had to perform his father’s chores around the house and in the very large vegetable and flower garden. After the war his father became a civilian accounting officer at the Ordnance Depot at Midland Junction near Perth until he retired in 1956.


Phillip’s father was a Methodist and his mother belonged to the Church of England, although they were not devout, particularly in their later years. Nevertheless, his mother encouraged regular attendance at St Peter’s Church of England in East Fremantle, starting with Sunday School. Phillip became an assistant Sunday School teacher but, apart from reinforcing prevailing social values, religion would not become a driving force in his life, although he did fulfill the religious obligations associated with his formal appointments in the military and thereafter.


He sometimes played the church organ, having studied music and the piano for his Leaving Entrance. Although he gave up the piano in 1950 when he was posted to Korea, it gave him a lifelong appreciation of music. He also studied French and German for five years although he had no opportunity to use either language.


Holidays were a rare occurrence but there were some week-long annual holidays spent in the jarrah forests and rivers south of Perth where the family stayed at a guest house near Jarrahdale. Phillip enjoyed a reasonably close relationship with cousins Guy and John Bateman, children of his father’s sister, Dorothy, who visited their grandparents periodically.9


Younger brother Peter Bennett recalled that Fremantle — bounded by the river on one side and the beach on the other and boasting an abundance of fish and crabs — was a good place to grow up. Sheila Bennett was a ‘strong, hardworking woman’ and Cyril a ‘gentle giant’, a ‘good-natured man with not a mean streak in him’, although the Bennett children did not get to know their father well until he came back from the war. Peter also recalled their fondness for the Scouts and that Phillip, unlike him, relished doing his homework.10


In an interview the year after his appointment as Chief of the General Staff (CGS), Bennett would describe himself as ‘a robust boy but not a difficult one’ and, reflecting on growing up during the war years, he added: ‘We did what we were told and applied ourselves to schoolwork pretty diligently, played a lot of sport and had a lot of old-fashioned parties at home with our friends, no milk bars around the corner, no discos, no TV, nor cars or motor bikes.’11


By the end of his school years, Phillip had become a well-rounded and self-reliant youth with educational attainments that opened a world of opportunities. At that time a very small percentage of students attained tertiary entrance and fewer actually went on to tertiary education. In the midst of war, with a father in the Army, and given his sporting, scouting and school cadet attainments, it is not surprising that he now considered a military career.


Royal Military College Cadet


In September 1945, Phillip Bennett applied to enter the Royal Military College (RMC), Duntroon, completing his interviews in October 1945, two months after the end of the Second World War. The psychological report prepared for the RMC selection board recorded that he had sound educational attainments and his test results were good but ‘doubtful for RMC standard’. His personality was assessed as ‘cooperative, stability satisfactory although may be a little emotional. Not over-confident. No initiative displayed during interview’, and concluded with a ‘doubtful’ recommendation. Nevertheless, the selection board recommended him as suitable and tenth in the order of preference for his state.12


While waiting for a response from the Army, Bennett considered applying to study medicine in Adelaide, there being no medical school in Perth. But before he had a chance to pursue this option he received a letter of acceptance from RMC and became one of eight cadets from Western Australia to answer the call that year.


Seven of the new cadets left Perth in early 1946 in a troop train commanded by Lieutenant Colonel John Angell, formerly of the British Indian Army.13 Responsibility came early as Angell, without the requisite military authority, appointed the unattested youths as carriage commanders. The future cadets and several nursing sisters occupied normal carriages while the troops, who were returning to the eastern states from South-East Asia, occupied crudely converted cattle wagons. Fortunately, these veteran soldiers treated their callow carriage commanders with typical good humour. At Cook, on the South Australian border, the train was delayed for five days because the tracks had been washed away by severe flooding.


The troops soon drank their personal beer supplies and quickly discovered that Cook, a fettlers’ town of about a dozen people, boasted no hotel or store. Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF) DC3 transport aircraft dropped tinned bully beef, meat and vegetables from which stews were boiled in Soyer stoves or coppers to keep the train crew and troops fed. Colonel Angell ordered the cadets to put on a concert and quiz show in the local hall to keep the somewhat irritable and reluctantly sober troops amused. Bennett played the piano and John Church, whose mother was from a theatrical family, arranged skits that he and the rest of the party performed, some to the troops’ delight and others that were not so well received. The concert helped relieve the boredom while the troops waited for the floodwaters to recede. The experience also forged lifelong bonds between the members of the Western Australian contingent.


As a consequence of this delay, the Western Australian cadets arrived at RMC five days late and were finally attested on 26 February. ‘Hazing’ was rife, crude and demeaning, but was intended to be a social leveller, to ingrain class camaraderie and force the new cadets to rote-learn the history of the college and its organisation and routine in quick time.14 ‘Leaps’ (quick changes of dress) were also imposed to sharpen personal organisation and ensure that cadets, particularly those who lived in ‘Siberia’ (temporary huts built over the hill in the area now occupied by the Australian Defence Force Academy) were not late for class or other activities.


A traditional surprise night indoctrination march was also ordered for the new cadets who discovered that their gear had been sabotaged and laden with bricks. They organised their equipment and set out on the long march; on return they were subjected to initiation rituals. The new cadets then had to refurbish their kit and be ready for a full day of instruction regardless of their general exhaustion and lack of sleep.


Coincidentally, Bennett’s section commander in his first year at RMC was also his RMC ‘father’, Jeffrey (Jim) Shelton.15 Some rationality was also provided by the Regimental Sergeant Major (RSM), Warrant Office Class 1 Geoff ‘Fango’ Watson, who took the new cadets under his wing and put his stamp on them.16 A few of the military instructors were veterans of the recent war, including the Commandant, Brigadier Eric Vowles, a member of the first graduating class in 1914 who had also participated in the Anzac campaign and on the Western Front in the First World War as a gunner officer.17


John Church recalls that Bennett’s initial RMC nickname was ‘Porky’, but this faded as he rapidly lost weight.18 Alf Argent, another classmate, said he lost weight so quickly that the staff were concerned that there might be reasons other than exercise and Army rations. But Bennett soon stabilised at a stocky twelve stone (seventy-six kilograms), at a height of five feet, nine inches (175 centimetres).19


The four-year course instituted in 1911 was truncated to two years during the Second World War, with a special course of one year, until 1944 when it was extended to three years.20 The course was equally divided between civil and military studies with overlap in some areas, particularly military history, geography and current affairs. Civil education was designed to provide a broader context for the cadets’ military studies and units towards a civil degree that could be completed later if the opportunity arose. The college’s military training was designed to provide the Army with regimental officers with a basic knowledge of all arms.


The 1946 intake was the last of the three-year courses. The first year primarily involved military orientation, fitness and academic subjects such as mathematics, calculus, chemistry, physics, history and English literature. Many struggled with the academic subjects, so the class was divided into two: A and B. Bennett dropped from A to B in his first year, but returned to the A class in his final year.


During their military training the cadets learnt to drive all Army motor vehicles and the heavy Harley Davidson motorcycles. Equestrian training had been discontinued in 1942 but was revived in 1945. Consequently, the 1946 class was kitted out with equestrian accoutrements, although the cadets had only one lesson before equestrian training for officers was abandoned and the horses auctioned.


The 1946 class comprised fifty Australians, five New Zealanders and three repeats from the previous year. By the end of 1946, seven had been discharged because they were deemed unlikely to make satisfactory officers or had failed their studies and three others, including two repeats, were discharged at their own request.21


With no soccer available at RMC, Bennett played hockey for the first time and became the team captain in 1948, with David Butler as vice captain. They beat Royals in the finals of the Australian Capital Territory (ACT) competition, but were not so successful against Sydney University, whose team included war-hardened RMC graduates completing their undergraduate education. According to Bennett, the opposition turned to rough play to achieve its 2–1 victory. Perhaps this accounts for the fact that the hockey team won only a half-colour for sport, much to their disappointment.


In his second year, Bennett’s class became the hazing masters for the new class but claim not to have been as harsh as their seniors.22 They nevertheless continued the training aspects associated with hazing, including leaps, room inspections, trivia quizzes, and reporting breaches of discipline to the Lord and Master who would impose minor punishments to rectify a lack of knowledge or flawed performance.


Military training in the second year advanced from individual to section level and included instruction in minor tactics, weapons and drill subjects. The cadets learned to drive Bren gun carriers, an early type of armoured personnel carrier used extensively in the Second World War. They paraded for a visit by Field Marshal Sir Bernard Montgomery, Chief of the Imperial General Staff (CIGS), on 3 July 1947 and, a few days later, left for two weeks of ‘factory tours’ to defence factories and military bases. They also spent a few days at the Flinders Naval Depot, then the home of the Royal Australian Navy (RAN) College, where they participated in games, a Wardroom dining in night, and a short but very rough voyage into Bass Strait on the corvette HMAS Gladstone which fired its guns for the benefit of its passengers.


Peter Bennett followed in his brother’s footsteps, entering RMC in 1948, but left at the end of the year. He did not see much of Phillip who, by then, was in the senior year. Shortly after leaving, Peter joined the RAAF and was commissioned as a navigator.23


The memories of Phillip Bennett’s classmates provide a fairly consistent picture. David Mannett describes him as ‘fairly serious, quite thickset for his age, and fairly conscientious. Not too many of us distinguished ourselves academically including him but he did well in military subjects but not well enough to get cadet rank.’24 Jim Shelton, who graduated at the end of 1946, recalls that ‘he loved Duntroon as a cadet or he seemed to love it and seemed a responsible person for his age. Right from the start he had a sense of responsibility as well as being a very impressive person. He was a good sportsman and volunteered for everything.’25


Although his 1946 mid-year report was ‘satisfactory’, by mid-1947 Bennett was teetering on the brink of expulsion. The Commandant wrote to his parents disclosing that he had graded thirty-first of the forty-nine cadets in his class and that he had failed military history, mathematics, physics and chemistry. His instructors, however, believed that he could improve if he applied himself and limited his social life. The Commandant concluded with the terse note that he had ‘warned him that a considerable improvement is required by the end of the year if he is to be retained at the College’.26


Not surprisingly, Bennett entered his final year without gaining cadet rank, although he had obviously heeded the Commandant’s warning. His confidential report on graduation recorded that his English results were ‘good’, but his physics and mathematics were ‘below average’ and ‘below pass standard’ respectively. However, his military results were ‘fair’, on average, and the summary noted that he had average general ability, was hard-working and reliable and should make a good officer.


Several of his RMC term reports noted that Bennett needed to develop more self-confidence or be more assertive. One of the keys to his future success lies in his graduation report which noted that his capacity to impart knowledge was ‘very fair’, one of the rare areas of higher achievement, and that he ‘should develop into a good instructor’.27


Bennett’s lack of confidence most probably stemmed from an innate shyness compounded by the family circumstances described previously. Shyness is not uncommon in successful people and it would be noted at times throughout his career.28 However, Bennett’s instructional ability and early operational experience in Korea, along with a good measure of practical common sense, would increase his confidence and enable him to effectively mask his innate shyness.
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RMC, Duntroon, 1948 Graduating Class. Phillip Bennett third row on right (RMC-A Archives)


Of the original intake of fifty-eight, Phillip Bennett graduated twenty-eighth of forty-three graduates (including five New Zealanders). His bids for corps selection comprised armour, infantry and artillery and he was allocated his second choice for which he was always profoundly grateful. He had graduated sixth of fourteen graduates to infantry, only one of whom had put infantry as his first preference.29


The class graduated on 14 December 1948 and the parade was reviewed by Lieutenant General Sir Bernard Freyberg VC, the Governor-General of New Zealand and legendary commander of New Zealand forces during the Second World War. In his address Freyberg provided some sage advice: ‘The one criterion of discipline is that a force may hang together through the stress and strain of war.’ He also warned the graduating cadets that: ‘The graduates of this College are brought up under strict discipline, which is quite right for the regular army’ but ‘when some of you start on your careers you may be training a citizen or volunteer army, which is a very different thing altogether. For a start you should feel your way. Go very carefully. Use your common sense.’30


Bennett’s class graduated into Australia’s first peacetime regular army — established in June 1947 — which was to comprise 19,000 men formed into an infantry brigade group and support services. Some would also serve as the cadre of the 50,000-man Citizen Military Force (CMF) which consisted of two infantry divisions that were to be raised over the next five years.31
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CHAPTER 2


TO JAPAN AND THE KOREAN WAR


Following his graduation, Phillip Bennett took his first commercial flight, returning to Perth for four weeks’ leave. The normal means of travel was train which took ten days for the return journey and condemned Western Australians to whiling away half their leave on the train. The infantry graduates then moved to the School of Infantry, at Seymour in Victoria, for five weeks’ intensive training as small arms instructors, on battalion support weapons such as mortars and medium machine-guns, and for an introduction to the 17-pounder antitank gun. They were also introduced to night warfare training which had not been conducted at RMC.


Bennett and his infantry classmates were posted to the 3rd Battalion of the newly formed Royal Australian Regiment which was then the last major army unit of the British Commonwealth Occupation Force (BCOF) in Japan. Formed in 1945, the BCOF was designed to give the Commonwealth a voice in drafting the peace treaty with Japan. It originally numbered 37,000, and included an Australian infantry brigade and three RAAF fighter squadrons.1


The BCOF was responsible for the security of southern Honshu and Shikoku (see Map 1). When it transpired that security was not a major problem and that the conclusion of a peace treaty was not an American priority, the BCOF quickly shrank so that, by May 1949, it was only 2,500 strong and its area of responsibility had been reduced to the Hiroshima Prefecture and Iwakuni Police District with sub-areas in Tokyo and Kobe.


The fourteen 1948 infantry graduates from RMC were sent in drafts to join the battalion from March 1949. The flight took three days by QANTAS Lancastrians — converted Lancaster bombers — with a brief breakfast stopover in Darwin and an overnight stay in Manila before the aircraft arrived at the Iwakuni air base where the RAAF 77th Fighter Squadron was stationed. The young officers were then taken by launch to Kure harbour and thence to the battalion’s Morshead Barracks in Hiro, five miles east of Kure.
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Map 1. Initial Dispositions British Commonwealth Occupation Force


Phillip Bennett arrived on 21 March and, along with some of the other young officers, spent several weeks assisting the Quartermaster with stocktaking before taking up his appointment. The 3rd Battalion had been run down to halfstrength and comprised only a headquarters company, two rifle companies and a Cadre Company. Bennett became an instructor in the Cadre Company.


Lieutenant Colonel Ken MacKay, the Commanding Officer (CO), noted on Bennett’s first confidential report that he had had insufficient time to form any firm opinions of him but that he ‘appears to be bright and keen and should make good progress’. He added that the young officer had been part of the regimental stocktake team for the last six weeks and had ‘proved reliable and methodical’.2


Major Bruce Ferguson, the battalion second-in-command, oversaw both the Cadre Company and a Non-commissioned Officer (NCO) school established by the battalion. Ferguson habitually gave loud critiques of the new instructors’ lessons, embarrassing the newcomers in front of the troops. Having passed this trial, Bennett was appointed to command 5 Platoon, B Company. Initially, the platoon comprised only twenty men, many of them veterans of the Second World War. The men soon settled into a routine of garrison duties, weapons and physical training, route marching and the integration of reinforcements.
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Phillip Bennett leads his platoon on one of the many marches back from the Haramura training area, Japan, 1949-50 (Bennett Papers)


In May, much to his surprise, Bennett leant that his mother had given birth to a daughter, completing the family. He had discarded the first cablegram thinking it must have been incorrectly addressed, but a second cable soon confirmed the arrival of a sister, Susan Margaret.3


The rifle companies rotated between guard duty in Tokyo and on the Kure docks, and training at Haramura every three months. The formation of C Company in May 1949 facilitated this triangular rotation and allowed the training at Haramura to be upgraded. In Tokyo the company guarded the BCOF barracks at Ebisu, the Imperial Palace, the British and Australian Embassies, the Canadian Legation and the Tokyo residence of the Commander-in-Chief BCOF. On leave, the officers stayed at the Marunouchi Hotel, close to the Tokyo railway station, which had been allocated to the allied forces in Tokyo, and enjoyed the facilities of the American Officers’ Club. The platoons were also rotated through the Kawana Hotel — the BCOF Recreation Centre on the Ito peninsula, Seventy-five miles south of Tokyo — for five days’ rest and recuperation.


Fraternisation was forbidden and members of the Army were banned from entering most Japanese areas. Nevertheless, it was noted that the incidence of venereal disease rose whenever the battalion went to Tokyo for the annual British Empire Day or American Independence Day parades. Moreover, a blind eye was turned to the more permanent liaisons and marriages that occurred.4 With rare exceptions, the officers resisted these temptations.


The company at Kure guarded the docks, the residence (known as the White House) of the Commander-in-Chief BCOF, Lieutenant General H.C.H. ‘Red Robbie’ Robertson, and his headquarters, from a base in the BCOF General Hospital. On one occasion, while Bennett’s platoon was guarding the White House, thieves evaded the guard and stole virtually all Robertson’s uniforms and accoutrements. According to Alf Argent, a fellow platoon commander, Bennett’s name was mud and he was disconsolate for days, striving to avoid ‘Red Robbie’ while checking the guard.
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Lieutenant Phillip Bennett’s 5 Platoon being inspected by Lieutenant General Sir Horace Robertson, GOC BCOF, Japan (Bennett left front) (Bennett Papers)


Life was busy although unexciting, and sport was the major recreational outlet, especially rugby which, along with physical training, helped keep the men physically fit. There were officers’ mess functions every two or three weeks and Bennett and fellow platoon commander Geoff Hollings were often conscripted to play the piano in the singalongs that sometimes followed these events.


On one occasion, while B Company was training at Haramura, the officers returned to Hiro for a mess function. As the evening wore on, Bennett was dragooned into playing the piano by Major Ferguson who refused to let him go when his company commander, Captain John Callander, wanted to return to Haramura. Callander eventually departed, leaving Bennett with a 24-mile march. The transport officer claimed to have no available transport but, by the time Bennett had walked about a third of the way, the transport officer had relented and despatched a vehicle to retrieve him. Thereafter his interest in the mess piano waned considerably.


The training at Haramura, a former Japanese cavalry training base, was rigorous and included platoon and company attack and defensive exercises with live mortar and medium machine-gun fire. Close air support was provided by 77 Squadron. Battalion bivouacs were also held near Hiro on the small islands off Honshu.5


As well as the rotation of guard duties and training, the CO initiated battalion officer training. MacKay was keen on high moral standards and sound character guidance and directed his officers to produce papers ranging from ‘democracy and what it means to us’ to ‘home life and our social character’ which failed to enthuse the young men. However, when Lieutenant Colonel Stan Walsh replaced MacKay in August 1949, officer training took a more practical bent, now designed to assist officers to prepare for promotion examinations.


The young officers were also rotated through courses and other battalion postings to broaden their experience. Bennett was sent on a US 8th Army Air Transport Cadre course at Yamato for a week in January 1950. He was also handed responsibility for training the mortar section, commanded by Sergeant Tom Muggleton, which had been nominated to participate in the 1950 Duke of Gloucester Cup — which the battalion won for the second time since its inauguration the previous year. In company with the CO and ten other members of the battalion, Bennett embarked on the aircraft carrier HMS Triumph to observe a six-day Fleet Air Arm exercise.
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Lieutenant Phillip Bennett (left) supervising mortar section participation in the Gloucester Cup – Sergeant Tom Muggleton (centre) was section commander, Haramura, Japan, 1950 (Lance Corporal John Holford ex-3RAR)


By mid-1950, Bennett was a young officer with a broad range of experience, although, as he reflected in later years, this period had not always been easy:


You had some 35 or 36 soldiers, most of them had been on active service in the Second World War, many of them not well educated, who had come to Japan at the end of a very busy war period. It was pretty difficult to persuade them what the right thing to do was, especially for a 19 year old kid.6


This experience would have reinforced the lesson instilled at RMC that familiarity breeds contempt. Nevertheless, Bluey Holford, one of Bennett’s soldiers from those days remembered him as a good platoon commander.7 The new CO, Walsh, who had a reputation for being something of a playboy, agreed, noting in Bennett’s 1950 report that he was:


A smart young officer whose personal discipline is satisfactory and who applies himself with zeal to any task allotted. Has been checked for intemperance. One of the best platoon commanders in the battalion and will develop into a valuable officer.8


Whether this ‘intemperance’ was related to the piano incident, the odd angry outburst noted later, or alcohol — or all the above — is unclear. However, young officers were often trapped in the Officers’ Mess by more senior officers in search of drinking partners.9


On 26 May 1950, Prime Minister Robert Menzies announced the gradual withdrawal of the Australian contingent of the BCOF. On 4 July, Bennett returned to Australia for leave and to attend a mortar officer’s course before going to Enoggera, Queensland, to join the advance party for 3 RAR’s return to Australia.


At this point, however, the Korean War intervened and, when the decision to commit Australian ground forces was announced, Bennett flew back to Japan to become second-in-command of the mortar platoon under Captain Alan Power. His mortar officer’s course report noted that he had been recalled before completing the course, but that he was ‘keen and intelligent; learns quickly and absorbs well; good knowledge of mortar fire control; good instructional technique.’10




Key to Map 2 The Korean peninsula and 3RAR Operations 1950-51


1950


1. 3RAR arrives Pusan, 28 Sep


2. Patrols begin, 30 Sep


3. By air to Seoul, 5 Oct


4. BCB under control 1 US Cav, 12 Oct


5. Sariwon action, 13 Oct


6. 3RAR in clearing action, 18 Oct


7. 27 BCB nears Pyongyang, 20 Oct


8. 187 Airborne airdrop, 20 Oct


9. 27 BCB advances, 21 Oct


10. 3RAR attack near Yongju, 22 Oct


11. Broken Bridge battle, 25 Oct


12. Battle of Chongju, 29 Oct


13. CO 3RAR mortally wounded, 30Oct


14. Battle of Pakchon, 5 Nov


15. Ferguson commands 3RAR, 10Nov, Patrols north of Pakchon, 26 Nov


16. 27 BCB nears Kunu-ri, 27 Nov, BCB under command US IX Corps


17. Withdrawal to Chasan, 28 Nov


18. Withdrawal to Sainjang, 1 Dec, move back to Chasan


19. Withdrawal to Yopa-ri, 2 Dec


20. Withdrawal continues, 4 Dec, 3RAR in ambush action


21. Withdrawal to Singye, 6 Dec


22. Withdrawal to Sibyon-ni, 8 Dec


23. Withdrawal to Uijongbu, 11 Dec, extensive patrolling 11-31 Dec





1951


24. 3RAR moves north, 1 Jan


25. In position north of Seoul 4 Jan, In action, withdrawal to Yoda-ri


26. Move to Changhowan-ni, 6 Jan, long-range patrolling begins


27. Move to Yoju, 5 Feb, patrols to Chipyong-ni


28. Move towards Chaum-ni, 14 Feb


29. Action during advance, 15-17 Feb


30. Action near Hill 410, 23-Feb-8 Mar


31. Action near Albany Line, 10-11 Mar


32. Move to Benton-Utah Lines, 28 Mar


33. Battle of Kapyong, 23-24 Mar
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Map 2. The Korean Peninsula and 3RAR Operations 1950-51. Butler et al, The Fighting Leaders


On 25 June, despite South Korean and other warnings, the American command in Japan was caught napping by the North Korean invasion intended to reunite the Korean peninsula by force.11 The South Korean Army was shattered, and lost half of its 98,000-strong force in the first week of the war. Only two of its eight under-strength divisions retained their equipment.


On 29 June, the Australian government agreed to commit the two RAN vessels stationed in Japan and, the next day, committed 77 Squadron to operations over Korea. The government proved more reluctant to commit ground forces, although 3 RAR manned the anti-aircraft defences at Iwakuni for a short period.12


Ill-prepared US forces were rushed to Korea from Japan but, by 25 July, the allied forces had been driven into the Pusan perimeter (see Map 2) and were facing the prospect of a full evacuation of the peninsula. General Douglas MacArthur, Commander-in-Chief United Nations (UN) Command, asked for the immediate use of 3 RAR and, the next day, the Australian government announced that it had decided to provide ground forces, although the battalion would not be combat ready for some time.


Training and preparations were in full swing when Bennett returned to the battalion on 10 August. New recruits were flowing in to bring the battalion to its war strength of 950 and the full complement of weapons and equipment was being sourced. But it was not until 11 September that the unit reached full strength and 16 September that the last of its heavy equipment arrived, including six 17-pounder anti-tank guns and their tractors.


General Vernon Sturdee, the Australian CGS, insisted on the battalion being commanded by an experienced Second World War commander, so Walsh was replaced by Lieutenant Colonel Charles Green on 13 September. Green arrived on the day the first battalion exercise commenced. The exercise was cut short by a typhoon and the re-scheduled exercise was curtailed when the battalion was ordered to prepare for immediate embarkation for Korea.13


Nevertheless, the battalion was physically fit and, with the exception of the RMC officers, all the officers and senior NCOs were seasoned veterans of the Second World War. While there had been an intensive program of platoon and company training, there had been no time for battalion training and no opportunity for combined arms or joint training prior to embarkation. At that time the Defence Act stipulated that only volunteers could undertake active service beyond Australia and its territories and, with very few exceptions, the members of 3 RAR answered the call.


By early September, the Pusan perimeter had been stabilised after a week of desperate fighting. On 15 September, an American amphibious force landed at the port of Inchon, Seoul, threatening the North Korean supply line and forcing their precipitous withdrawal from the south.


On 27 September, 3 RAR embarked on the USNS Aiken Victory, disembarking in Pusan the next day.14 On arrival, the infantry companies boarded a train for Taegu while the support elements, including the mortars and vehicles, completed the 100-kilometre road journey in convoy, rejoining the battalion the next day eight kilometres north-west of Taegu.


At Taegu, 3 RAR joined the 27th British Infantry Brigade which was then retitled the 27th British Commonwealth Infantry Brigade. The brigade was engaged in mopping-up operations west of the Naktong River and 3 RAR mounted its first operational patrols on 2 October. There were no contacts during these operations, but the patrols gave the battalion a chance to work on its operating procedures both internally and with the 27th Brigade. The battalion also suffered its first casualties on 3 October when two men were killed after their vehicle strayed into an unmarked minefield.
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Lieutenant Phillip Bennett (right) and Private Bob Hogg after being wounded in Korea 14 October 1950 (Bennett Papers)


On 5 October, 27 Brigade was flown from Taegu to Kimpo, west of Seoul, leaving behind its vehicles and heavy equipment which undertook a five-day road journey to rejoin the battalion. No arrangements had been made to support the road convoy so fuel, rations and assistance with breakdowns had to be scrounged from US forces along the way. The 27th Brigade was then allotted to the US 1st Cavalry Division (despite the name a standard infantry division) for the advance into North Korea. The intention was to destroy the retreating North Korean armed forces and unite the whole country under Syngman Rhee, the leader of South Korea.


The 27th Brigade joined the 1st Cavalry Division on 13 October following the capture of Kaesong. The men of 3 RAR then led a clearing sweep towards Kumchon taking three prisoners and suffering their first battle casualties. An unidentified Korean approached the perimeter of Bennett’s mortar platoon and was challenged by Private Bob Hogg. The Korean ignored the challenge and continued to advance so Bennett, having heard the click of a grenade safety pin being pulled, fired his revolver continuously at the advancing man. The first two rounds were misfires which allowed the Korean time to throw the grenade before Bennett could fire three more rounds that wounded the thrower. Although distant groaning could be heard for some time, by next morning there was no trace of the Korean. Hogg and Bennett were slightly wounded and, although Bennett was stiff and sore for some time after, he remained on duty. He was left with a large piece of shrapnel in his shoulder as a memento of his first engagement with the enemy.


Having had its first taste of action, the 27th Brigade was then transferred to the US 24th Division and, over the next two weeks, pursued the retreating North Korean forces up the west coast towards the Yalu River border with China. The 3 RAR soldiers were engaged in three major battles before the brigade was relieved in the area of Chongju, about ninety kilometres from the Yalu, by other 24th Division units that continued the pursuit.


During the pursuit, the battalion was supported by US tank and artillery units and air support. Because they were moving so rapidly, the forward company travelled on the rear tanks with the remainder of the battalion in trucks behind them. The mortars were only called forward and deployed if a major contact occurred. Although they deployed for the first major battle at Yongju (known as the Apple Orchard), they could not be used because of uncertainty over the whereabouts of the 187th Airborne Regimental Combat Team, which had been parachuted in ahead of the pursuit the previous day and quickly surrounded.


The mortar platoon was engaged in the second major battle at the crossing of the Taeryong River (known as the Battle of the Broken Bridge) on 25 October. The platoon fired in combination with artillery and heavy mortars to ‘soften up’ the far bank before the lead companies scrambled across the broken bridge. The mortars also assisted in breaking up determined counter-attacks against B Company at the bridgehead during the night. The battalion suffered its first major casualties here, losing eight killed and twenty-two wounded.
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Captain Phillip Bennett (left) supervising mortar fire mission in Korea 1951 (Bennett Papers)


The last major battle of the pursuit was against a well-prepared battalion defensive position supported by dug-in tanks and self-propelled guns at Chongju on 29 October. After a quick attack supported by close air support, tanks, artillery and the mortars, the position was captured, but was heavily counter-attacked during the night. However, the counter-attacks were broken up by artillery and Bennett’s mortars and the determined resistance of the forward infantry. The action cost 3 RAR nine killed and thirty wounded. One of Bennett’s classmates, Lieutenant David Mannett, won a Military Cross for exceptional leadership in attack and defence.


The next day, having advanced again to secure the approaches to Chongju, the CO, Lieutenant Colonel Charles Green, was wounded by a fragment from a shell fired by a North Korean self-propelled gun and died the following day. He was replaced by Lieutenant Colonel Stan Walsh, the former CO who, in the interim, had been attached to Eighth Army Headquarters.


At this point, General MacArthur chose to downplay increasing signs that Chinese forces had entered North Korea and drove his ill-prepared and increasingly dispersed forces on towards the Yalu. In fact the Chinese had infiltrated eighteen divisions into North Korea and were waiting for the overextended UN forces to approach before launching their first offensive, driving their opponents back and threatening to cut off their escape routes to the south. Fortunately, the Commanding General US Eighth Army, General Walton Walker, recognised the early signs of this threat and ordered the 24th Division and 27th Brigade back to secure vital river crossings just before the Chinese arrived.


As these operations unfolded and just a few days after regaining command of 3 RAR, Walsh was dismissed by the brigade commander for losing his nerve and ordering a precipitate withdrawal that threatened to expose the left flank of the brigade to enemy infiltration and jeopardise the withdrawal of the 24th Division. He was replaced by the second-in-command, Major Bruce Ferguson, who was promoted lieutenant colonel.15 Bennett was promoted temporary captain at this time and given command of the mortar platoon when Alan Power returned to Australia.


As mortar platoon second-in-command, Bennett had been responsible for deploying the mortars to engage the enemy. His tasks had included orienting the mortar tubes, calculating the direction and range to targets, and issuing fire orders based on requests from the mortar fire controllers attached to the forward infantry companies. As the mortar platoon commander he represented the mortars in the CO’s reconnaissance party and in battalion headquarters and coordinated their movement with the rest of the battalion and their fire with artillery and air support. The main restriction on using the mortars, especially during rapid pursuit and withdrawal operations, resulted from their limited range, only 2,800 yards (2,560 metres). This limitation meant that greater use was made of artillery and, when available, the heavier 4.2-inch mortars (with a range of 4,400 yards) of the US Army Company B, 2nd Chemical Mortar Battalion, which had been in direct support from 1 December.16 When the battalion steadied to prepare an attack or occupied a defensive position, the battalion mortars proved very effective in close support. Mortar sections were also frequently detached to rifle company patrols.


Following their initial limited actions in early November, the Chinese sprung their trap on 25 November, routing the South Korean forces, decimating the US 2nd Infantry Division, and almost trapping the 1st Marine Division, forcing a general withdrawal of UN forces. From 2 December until 4 January, 3 RAR, as part of the 27th Brigade, was engaged in a series of blocking and covering force actions as the UN Command withdrew and the morale of many South Korean and some US units collapsed in the absence of effective strategic and operational leadership. The 27th Brigade covered the withdrawal from Seoul, with 3 RAR the last unit to leave the capital, moving 130 kilometres to the south-east to occupy defensive positions south of Ichon.


On 15 December, in the midst of the withdrawal, President Harry Truman announced that the strategic objective had changed to restoration of the status quo ante bellum, although MacArthur doubted that it was possible to hold Korea at all. ‘Bug-out fever’ only abated when General Walker was replaced by General Mathew Ridgeway in command of the UN Forces in late December. He steadied the Army, took command of all forces in Korea, effectively cutting MacArthur out of the operational chain of command on the peninsula, and prepared to push the enemy forces north of the 38th parallel.17 This series of advances began on 25 January with the 27th Brigade in reserve for the initial phase.


On 11 February, the Chinese launched their Fourth Phase offensive in the centre of the peninsula, attacking Chipyong-ni and Wonju in an attempt to open the route to Pusan. Chipyong-ni was held by a US regiment which included a French battalion. The 27th Brigade was sent forward to secure a road junction to the south-east of this position to halt penetration along this line and keep the route open to the forces at Chipyong-ni, but found the route blocked by a superior Chinese force. Repeated determined assaults during the period 14–16 February saw the Chipyong-ni force hold until relieved by other forces. The Chinese withdrew after a severe mauling.


The 27th Brigade played a minor but significant role in this victory by forcing the Chinese to use blocking forces that might otherwise have been directed against the beleaguered defenders and the relief column or to push further south. The defeat of the Chinese offensive helped restore the morale of the Eighth Army and showed that withdrawal to Pusan and evacuation was not the only option.


Ridgeway then ordered a series of offensives to inflict as much damage and as many casualties as possible on the enemy through the use of artillery and air power and to drive them north of the 38th parallel. As part of the 27th Brigade, 3 RAR fought in these offensives and, on 7 March, the battle for Hill 412 proved to be its hardest engagement since the previous year. The battalion toll amounted to twelve killed and twenty-four wounded. After several more sharp clashes, the intermediate Albany Line was reached on 12 March and the brigade was withdrawn into corps reserve for a rest.


For the first time, these operations saw the battalion employ 150 Korean porters to carry ammunition and heavy stores to the front and to evacuate casualties in the absence of viable road access. The mortar and medium machine-gun crews also man-packed their weapons and limited ammunition cross-country. It was exhausting work but allowed the mortars to provide crucial support as the battalion pushed the well-disciplined Chinese rearguard north. From 22 January, the battalion was significantly boosted by the 25-pounder field guns of the 163rd Battery of the 16th New Zealand Field Regiment which was in direct support.


After two weeks’ rest in reserve, the 27th Brigade was recommitted to the advance in the Hyon-ni area, fifty kilometres north-west of Chipyong-ni and, against light resistance, reached its objective, the Benton Line, eight kilometres south of the 38th parallel on 31 March. Again it had been necessary to porter ammunition and supplies to maintain the advance. The brigade was then ordered to move east and continue the advance up the valley of the Kapyong River to take a group of hills on the Utah Line eight kilometres north of the 38th parallel. Having achieved this, on 17 April, the brigade was withdrawn to a reserve position north of Kapyong in preparation for the changeover of the brigade headquarters and the two British battalions.


Over the previous two and a half months, the 27th Brigade had helped push the Eighth Army’s front over 100 kilometres north. However, the advance had yet to reach its final objective and the new Commanding General of the Eighth Army, General Van Fleet, planned to continue the offensive. But on 21 April Van Fleet was trumped by a Chinese offensive concentrated against the forces north of Seoul with a secondary front in the centre of the peninsula that shattered the 6th Korean Division that had relieved the 27th Brigade in the upper reaches of the Kapyong Valley (see Map 3).
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Map 3. The Chinese Attack 22-23 April 1951


The stage was set for the epic battle of Kapyong in which the 27th Brigade, assisted by a company of American tanks, New Zealand and US artillery, as well as air power, halted the Chinese offensive in their sector and forced them to withdraw. On 23 April, the 27th Brigade had been ordered into defensive positions six kilometres north of Kapyong — positions that were significant because they straddled one of two routes to Seoul and denied access to one of the main east–west routes south of the battle line.


During the afternoon, two of the battalions occupied positions in the hills astride the valley where two tracks from the north converged. On the right, 3 RAR was covering the main route with the Canadian battalion on the left and the reserve battalion still further north protecting the New Zealand gunners. Headquarters 3 RAR and the battalion’s support company, including the mortars, were separated from the rifle companies with the task of controlling movement on the road south of its point of convergence. They were directed to keep touch with the nearby headquarters of the 6th Korean Division (see Map 4). That night the flow of South Koreans escaping the Chinese advance rose to a torrent, making it difficult to distinguish friend from foe among the fleeing troops and civilians. The divisional headquarters joined the torrent.


The first attacks on the tanks in front of B Company and the rifle companies began at 9.30 that night and increased in intensity as a Chinese division closed in. The mortar and artillery support was far from ideal. The New Zealand artillery regiment, less one battery, had been pushed north to support the 6th Korean Division and barely escaped the Chinese advance, pulling back behind the 27th Brigade at 8.00 p.m. and then leap-frogging further south during the night to escape infiltration and constant harassment by Chinese forces.


As a consequence, defensive fires had not been registered and the artillery forward observers rushed to A and B Companies had difficulty establishing communication. One forward observer was so inexperienced that he told A Company commander, Ben O’Dowd, that they could not fire because the guns were not ‘surveyed in’.18 The availability of fire support during the night remains the subject of contention. This problem was compounded by poor communication within the battalion and the unexplained absence of the CO for part of the night leaving A Company without fire support as it struggled to repel the initial attack.19
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Map 4. The Battle of Kapyong 23-25 April 1951


Fortunately, these issues were resolved as the night wore on and when, after first light, the Chinese attack switched to D Company on the vital ground, devastating defensive fires from New Zealand and US artillery allowed the battalion’s companies to hold their positions and withdraw that night without being drawn into a running fight.


The 4.2-inch mortar company supported the 72nd Tank Company in the initial stages of the first night. But 3 RAR was unable to establish communication with the mortar company which left at dawn leaving most of its weapons and equipment behind. Consequently, the mortar company was not available to support the companies during the intensive fighting that occurred during the day.20


From around 11.30 p.m. on the first night, 3 RAR battalion headquarters, including the mortar platoon, also came under attack from enemy infiltrators in the fleeing throngs of civilians and the 6th Korean Division. Bennett’s mortar platoon had to fight off three or four squad-sized attacks during the night in which four of his mortarmen were wounded. As a result the platoon could not provide mortar fire support to the forward companies.21


When a company of the reserve battalion, the Middlesex Regiment, failed to capture the high ground overlooking 3 RAR battalion headquarters at dawn, the headquarters and mortars were withdrawn into the reserve battalion position. Once there, Bennett’s mortars were out of range of the rifle companies. The mortars had not fired a single mortar round in support of the battalion during the battle because they were either defending themselves and the battalion headquarters or, once moved, they were out of range.


There were several reasons for placing the battalion headquarters and support company astride the road. However, the consequence was that the battalion headquarters’ capacity to command the battalion and provide mortar support was severely degraded once it came under attack. Suffice to say, the siting of the battalion was the CO’s responsibility. Moreover, although Ferguson performed admirably as the CO when present, his absence during the first critical hours of the battle has never been explained.


When the rifle companies of 3 RAR withdrew late on 24 April, the assault shifted to the Canadian battalion. With the assistance of massed artillery and air support, the attack was finally broken and the Chinese withdrew the next day. It had been a costly victory for the 27th Brigade: 3 RAR alone had lost thirty-two killed, fifty-nine wounded and three captured. The units involved were awarded the US Presidential unit citation for their part in halting the Chinese offensive in this sector.
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The mortar platoon, Captain Phillip Bennett sixth from left with his 2IC, Lieutenant Kevin Innes-Kerr, on his left, Korea, 1951 (Bennett Papers)


On 25 April, the brigade was withdrawn in stages into reserve at Yangpyong on the Han River south of Kapyong. The next day, the 27th Brigade Headquarters was replaced by the 28th British Commonwealth Brigade Headquarters. On 1 May, after a short rest, the 28th Brigade was moved to Yangsu-ri and began patrolling north in anticipation of another Chinese offensive. When this failed to eventuate, the brigade advanced twenty kilometres north against light opposition before being pulled back into reserve again at Hyon-ni, about fifteen kilometres west of Kapyong.


On 31 May, the 28th Brigade moved to a position just south of the Imjin River forty kilometres north of Seoul where it would remain for the next three months building strong defensive positions and patrolling north of the Imjin. This was a time of change as those members of the battalion who had been with the original contingent began to be replaced and sent home. Ferguson left on 25 June and was replaced by Lieutenant Colonel Frank Hassett on 6 July. One week later, Phillip Bennett departed for Japan.


Since arriving in Korea the battalion had moved from one end of the peninsula to the other and halfway back again before grinding its way back beyond the 38th parallel. Along with the other Commonwealth units, 3 RAR had shown itself to be one of the most reliable units in the UN Command. The battalion had participated in pursuit, advance, withdrawal and defensive operations in an often chaotic environment and in some of the most severe weather conditions in which any Australian unit had fought. They had endured severe cold, lice and fear that drove a few men literally to shoot themselves in the foot to escape the conditions, especially early in the first winter when warm clothing was slow to arrive. The scale of the fighting can be gauged from the fact that the battalion suffered ninety-three killed, 266 wounded and eight missing in the eight months ending May 1951.22


Phillip Bennett was given command of the mortar platoon on 23 November, promoted temporary captain on 31 December 1950, and was later Mentioned in Dispatches for his overall performance in command of the platoon.23 He had seen good and bad battalion commanders and, as the mortar platoon commander, was in an ideal position to learn how an infantry battalion operated in war.
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Officers of Support Company 3RAR from left Lieutenant Kevin Innes-Kerr, Lieutenant Cecil Evans, Major Archer Denness MC, and Captain Phillip Bennett, Korea, 1951 (Australian War Memorial)


Bennett’s two and a half years with the battalion in Japan and Korea had given him a solid foundation on which to build his future military career. Ferguson, who served with him through this period, noted that he was:


A capable officer whose approach to any problem is made in a sound and logical manner. Any task allotted him is approached with energy and determination and he has proved himself able to carry responsibility. His actions are always deliberate but he had the confidence of both his juniors and senior officers. He possesses a good military background.24


Before returning to Australia, Bennett spent six weeks in Japan imparting the lessons learnt during the first year of the war to reinforcements destined for Korea. He was the first of his class promoted to captain but, because he was still eighteen months away from being eligible for substantive promotion, he had to revert to the rank of lieutenant on his return to Australia. The only consolation was that his pay was not reduced because he occupied a captain’s position on his return and could also draw higher duties allowance. On 2 September 1951, Bennett flew into Sydney and proceeded to Perth for a long-awaited period of leave with his parents before heading east again in the company of Lieutenant John Church. Church had been wounded in Korea in March and was returning to duty after a period of convalescence.


Bennett and Church reported to the Director of Infantry at Army Headquarters in Melbourne and were informed that they had been posted to 2 RAR in Puckapunyal. They presented themselves to the CO that afternoon and attended a mess party for Korean veterans that night. The next morning, 31 October 1951, much to his surprise, Bennett was advised that he had been reposted to the School of infantry at Seymour as a tactics instructor.


During Bennett’s posting to Japan and Korea, the Army had expanded from its pre-Korean War strength of 14,651 and was building towards its peak of 29,104. In July 1950, the government announced the introduction of national service to bolster the sagging CMF and prepare for the possibility of global war.25


Several months into his posting as an instructor in the tactics wing, the chief instructor, Lieutenant Colonel K.M. MacKenzie, described Bennett as:


… capable, conscientious and dependable. He has undertaken heavy responsibility and has stood up to continuous hard work. He has shown well-developed leadership qualities. His man-management is first class and he inspires confidence in those under his control. He has a mature approach to his duties and thinks clearly and logically. His military knowledge is well above the average for his rank and he is persistently increasing it.26


After less than a year at the School of Infantry, Bennett was sent back to Korea, arriving on 10 September 1952. He had been posted to the Australian Ancillary Unit – Korea and was detached as senior instructor at the 25th Canadian Infantry Brigade Junior NCO School located at Uijongbu, north of Seoul. By this time the war had settled into a strongly contested defensive line roughly following the 38th parallel. Armistice talks had been in progress since July the previous year.


Bennett was promoted substantive captain on 15 December and, soon after, became chief instructor responsible for training junior NCOs for the 1st Commonwealth Division. Before leaving Australia, Bennett’s CO at the School of Infantry had asked him to send back periodic reports on the way the war was fought so that the school could keep abreast of training requirements. Bennett took this responsibility seriously, making several visits to front line units to experience conditions and to meet some of his friends who were serving with the two Australian battalions then committed to the 28th Commonwealth Brigade.


He was impatient to return to front line duty and suggested in one of his reports that he be replaced by an officer from one of the two Australian battalions who had current experience of the type of defensive operations that the UN Command was now undertaking. The Australian Army Component Commander in Japan and Korea, Brigadier Ian Campbell, learnt of this from a copy of the report that Bennett had sent to his headquarters and reprimanded him for discussing postings in Korea with an officer outside his command. Brigadier Tom Daly, the Australian Commander of the 28th Commonwealth Brigade, was also present but said nothing and left Bennett with the impression that this was a minor matter. Nevertheless, it was a salutary lesson in the sensitivities of the chain of command.


On 15 June 1953, Bennett left Korea, arriving back in Australia six days later. Speaking of his Korean experience in later life, he commented that he was ‘terrified, terrified but confident. I suppose that I knew what we were supposed to do because of the training.’27 He also acknowledged that Korea taught him most of what he knew about soldiering.28


On 17 October 1953, Bennett was best man at the wedding of an RMC classmate and fellow instructor at the Infantry School, Peter Scott. Before going to Korea for the second time, he had known Scott’s prospective bride, Gwenda, suffciently well for her father to write to him in Korea apologising for the fact that she planned to marry Scott. Bennett insisted that, while they had been good friends, there was no romantic attachment and that he had introduced her to Peter, although his friends were not so certain.


Bennett arrived in Seymour by train from Perth the day before Scott’s wedding and, as no other arrangements had been made for his accommodation, Margaret Heywood, Gwenda’s bridesmaid, met him at the station and invited him to stay with her parents. It was a fateful meeting, although Bennett’s relationship with Margaret was destined to develop by correspondence. Within six weeks of their meeting, he was on his way to Papua New Guinea.
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CHAPTER 3


THROUGH THE RIP AND BACK


Over the next thirteen years, Phillip Bennett undertook a variety of jobs, training and educational courses, and examinations to qualify him for promotion and specialised employment. He was posted to ARA and CMF units, on the staff of headquarters, to a training institution, and attended a series of training and educational courses at home and abroad. In addition, he married and added three children to the Bennett household.


As time passed, assessments of his performance were increasingly complimentary and it became clear that he had the potential for further promotion. However, it was not all plain sailing as a tragic training accident could have brought his promising career to an end.


Pacific Islands Regiment


After his second tour in Korea, Bennett returned to the School of Infantry at Seymour as an instructor and, during an Infantry Conference, was asked by the Corps Director what he thought about going to New Guinea. He was not enthusiastic about being sent overseas again so soon after returning from Korea, not to mention the attraction of his new found romance, but did not reject the offer.


Thus it was that Bennett found himself on his way to New Guinea on 24 November 1953 to assume the position of Adjutant of the Pacific Island Regiment (PIR). Papuan and New Guinea infantry battalions had been raised for the Second World War and, on 23 November 1950, the Australian government authorised the raising of one infantry battalion for internal security purposes and to patrol the border with Dutch New Guinea. The battalion was under command of Headquarters Papua New Guinea at Murray Barracks which, in turn, answered to Headquarters Northern Command in Brisbane.
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